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3 IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
4 FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
5
CaseNo. 4:20-cv-02254 YGR
6 LD, ETAL.,
o ORDER GRANTING MOTIONSTO
7 Plaintiffs, DISMISSWITH LEAVE TO AMEND
8 V.
Re: Dkt. Nos. 33, 34
o 9
3 -2 UNITED BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, ET AL.,
O5 10
BE Defendants.
S50 11
N2
2_% 12 Plaintiffst bring this putative class action agsti defendants United Behavioral Health
gg 13 || (“United”) and Viant, Inc. for dims arising out of Uted’s alleged failuréo reimburse non-party
E g 14 || Summit Estate at the Usual, Customary, and Reasonable Rate (“UCR”) for Intensive Outpatient
cCc
25 15 || Program (“IOP”) services that it provided to pkifis. Plaintiffs allegethat defendants’ conduct
z
16 || caused them injury, because it fledcthem to pay out-of-pocket aagnounts that United failed to
17 || reimburse Summit Estate. In the complaint, gitisnassert, on their owbehalf and on behalf of
18 || a proposed class of similargtuated United members, alas under the Employee Retirement
19 || Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and the&keteer Influenced ar@orrupt Organizations
20 || Act (“RICO").
21 Now pending are two motions to dismiss all claims in the complaint under Federal Rule of
22 || Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) on tlgrounds that: (1) all of the claims in the complaint are
23 || inadequately pleadednd (2) plaintiffs lack RICO standing.
24 Having carefully considered the pleadings #melparties’ briefs, and for the reasons set
25 || forth below, the CourGRANTS the motions to dismissITH LEAVE TO AMEND.
26
21 ! Plaintiffs are LD, DB, BW, RH, and CJ. adtiffs have used psidonyms to protect the
28 confidentiality of their identitypursuant to the Health InsunPortability and Accountability
Act of 1996 (“HIPAA").
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. BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs allege as followsPlaintiffs are members of &ee health insurance policies
administered by United. Compl. 1 2, Docket.M. Every such policy “provided coverage for
out-of-network benefits for megithealth and substance ussalder treatment at usual,
customary, or reasonable rate&d’ § 6. United describes UCRtea on its website as being
“based on what other health care professionatisdarelevant geographic areas or regions charg
for their services.”ld. 8.

Before obtaining IOP services from Summit Estan out-of-network provider, plaintiffs
signed a contract with Sumntistate that makes them “peEmsible for amounts not paid by
United.” Id.  27. Summit Estate contacted Unitedeafy out-of-network benefits and United
represented that the IOP servigegjuestion would be paid “at UCR rates” and that the claims f
such services “were not subjectthird-party repicing by Viant.” Id. § 26. Based on the “plain
language” of the plans, “it was understood bypalities that 100% of OR was equivalent to
100% of the billed charges of Summit Estatdd. 11 174, 187, 200, 212, 224. United “through
plan documents, marketing materials, EOBs, ahdranaterials” represented to plaintiffs that
their plans would pay for out-of-network IGRrvices “at the UCR amount according to an
objective, empirical methodology.fd.  104.

After receiving the IOP serws, claims were submitted to United for payment according
to the “out-of-network rate.’ld. § 8. Instead of “paying UCR,” United engaged defendant Vian
to “negotiate” reimbursementsd.  18. Viant has “financiahcentives” to negotiate low
reimbursementsld. 1 40, 46. Viant's negotiains resulted in offer® reimburse for IOP
services at an amount below the UCR, and Unitédi tha plaintiffs’ claims at the reduced Viant
amount. Id. 11 36-38. Neither United nor Viant disclogedlaintiffs the m&éodology they used

for calculating the reimbursement rates for IOP servits|| 44, 127.

2 In their opposition, plaintiffs contradict tladlegations in the conf@int by asserting that
“Plaintifts BW, CJ, DB, LD and RHlo not allege that United isquired to pay 100% of their
providers’ charges.” Opp’n at 1, Docket No. 46.
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No plaintiff has an agreement with Viant that permits Viant to negotiate with providers
his or her behalfid. { 34. Yet, Viant represented “tdugh written and oralorrespondence” that
it had authority to negotiate with providers on the patients’ beldlff 51.

“Every claim at issue in this litigatiodmas been underpaid by United and overpaid or
currently owed by the Plaintiffs and the Clas&l”  79. “United’s underpayment of the claims 4
issue here resulted unduly large balance bills to Plaintiffsid.  99.

The Explanation of Benefits (“H&®) sent to plaintiffs do not ate that Viant’s repricing is
permitted under the plaintiffs’ plans and that tepriced amount negotiatdy Viant is consistent
with plan terms.Id. § 53. The EOBs also do not statatttine repriced amount is an “adverse
benefit determination” that plaiffs have the right to appeald. Accordingly, plaintiffs did not
have the opportunity to appl the “underpayment[s].id. Y 56.

Plaintiffs allege that United and other insureese required as part tie settlement of an
unrelated litigation (fhgenixlitigation”) to underwrite the cré@n of a database called the “FAIR
health” database, which cams rates for the reimbursement for IOP treatm&ht{ 20.

Plaintiffs allege that Unitednd the other insurers waret required by théngenixlitigation
settlement to use the FAIR health datalFat.

Plaintiffs assert the followig on their own behalf and onhsdf of a proposed class of
members “of a health benefit plan either admeariestl or insured by Unitedvhose claims for out-
of-network I0P services “were undergair repriced by United and Vianid. § 233: a claim
against (1) both defendants under RICO, 18©.§.1962(c); (2) United for underpaid benefits
under ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B); (3) Unitedbreach of plan mvisions under ERISA,
29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B); (4) United for ERISWsclosure violations under 29 U.S.C. §
1132(c)(1); (5) United for breaddf fiduciary duties under 29.S.C. § 1109 and 29 U.S.C. §
1132(a)(3); (6) United for violatits of ERISA’s full and fair ndew statute, 29 U.S.C. § 1133;
and (7) two claims against batlefendants for equitde relief under 29 &.C. § 1132(a)(3).

3 Plaintiffs argue in their opposition that Urites required by “the language of its plans”
to use the FAIR health database to reimbursetit®f-network IOP serviceat issue. Opp’n at
2, Docket No. 46. Plaintiffs do natlege this theory ithe complaint. Asioted above, plaintiffs
allege in the complaint that Unitedrst required to use the AR Health database.
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I. LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismias;omplaint must contain sufficient factual
matter that, when accepted as true, statdaim that is plagible on its face Ashcroft v. Igbal
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). “A claihas facial plausibility whethe plaintiff pleads factual
content that allows the court to draw the reabtmaference that the tendant is liable for the
misconduct alleged.’Id. While this standard is not agirability requirement, “[w]here a
complaint pleads facts thate merely consistent with a deflant’s liability, it stops short of the
line between possibility and plaudity of entitlement to relief.”ld. (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted). In determining whether a pldfritas met this plausibty standard, the Court
must “accept all factual allegatiomsthe complaint as true and construe the pleadings in the lig
most favorable” to the plaintiffkKnievel v. ESPN393 F.3d 1068, 1072 (9th Cir. 2005). “[A]
court may not look beyond the colaint to a plaintiff's moving papers, such as a memorandum
opposition to a defendant’s motion to dismisS¢hneider v. California Dep’t of Corrl51 F.3d
1194, 1197 n.1 (9th Cir. 1998). A court should gteave to amend unless “the pleading could
not possibly be cured by thdeaation of other facts.'Cook, Perkiss & Liehe, Inc. v. N. Cal.
Collection Serv. In¢911 F.2d 242, 247 (9th Cir. 1990).
[11.  DiscussioN

As noted, defendants movedismiss all claimsn the complaint under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) on thlgrounds that: (1) all of the claims in the complaint are
inadequately pleadednd (2) plaintiffs lack RICO standing.

The Court addresses these arguments in turn.

A. ERISA

1. Breach of Plan Terms

Under Section 502(a)(1)(B) of ERISA, an ERI$lan “participant or beneficiary” may
bring an action “to recover benefits due to hindemthe terms of his plan, to enforce his rights
under the terms of the plan, or tauwty his rights to fture benefits under titerms of the plan.”
29 U.S.C. §1132(a)(1)(B). To stat claim under Seotn 502(a)(1)(B), “a @intiff must allege

facts that establish the existence of an ERISA ptawell as the provisions tfe plan that entitle
4
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it to benefits.” Almont Ambulatory Surgery Ctr., LLC v. UnitedHealth Grp.,,|188 F. Supp. 3d
1110, 1155 (C.D. Cal. 2015) (citation antkernal quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiffs assert two claimsnder Section 502(a)(1)(B) against United, one for “underpai
benefits,” and another fdoreach of the “plan provisions.” Compl. {4 292-311. Both claims arg
predicated on the theory that itéd underpaid plaintiffs’ claimir out-of-network IOP services
in contravention of the provisns of plaintiffs’ plans.id. 1 301, 305. Plaintiffs seek “underpaid
benefits” as relief for both claimdd. 1 302, 311.

United moves to dismiss these claims on theigds that plaintiffs have failed to identify
the plan provisions that requiiteto reimburse for the IOP séces at issue at the UCR réte.

In their opposition, plaintiffslo not distinguish the authaas that United cites for the
proposition that they are required to identifg tlielevant plan provisi@to state a claim under
Section 502(a)(1)(B).

The Court concludes that United’s motiomwisll-taken given the allegations in the
complaint. Plaintiffs’ claims are predicated allegations that United under-reimbursed Summit
Estate for IOP services it provided to plaintifiBlaintiffs aver that, pursuant to the “plain
language” of their healthcare plans, United wagired, but failed, to reimburse Summit Estate
based on UCR, with UCR being “egalent to 100% of the billedharges of Summit Estate.”
Compl. 11174, 187, 200, 212, 224. Plaintiffs, howedemot identify the tens of their plans
that require United to reimburse Summit Estatd OP services based on UCR or at 100% of
Summit Estate’s billed charges. In the absen@ledations that identify the plan terms at issue
plaintiffs fail to raise the reasonable infereticat United breached the terms of their plagse
Almont Ambulatory99 F. Supp. 3d at 1155 (dismissingiai under Section 502(a)(1)(B) on the

ground that plaintiffs failed tmentify the terms of the plahat provided coverage and

4 Defendants also argue that pliffs’ claims are subject tdismissal because the terms of
plaintiffs’ plans did not require United to reimrse Summit Estate for 100% of Summit Estate’s
billed charges. Defendants requgidicial notice of excerptsf summary plan documents.
Docket No. 35. Plaintiffs opposke request, arguing that thecexpts omit information that is
material to their claims. Doek No. 47. The Court will denyefendants’ request for judicial
notice as to the plan excerpthase defendants have not showat they contain all relevant
plan terms, and because the preggnotions can be resolvedthwout consulting such excerpts.
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reimbursement rates for the medical services at isklieé&)th Glendale Outpatient Surgery Citr. v.
United Healthcare ServaNo. 19-55412, 805 Fed. App’x 530, 2020 WL 2537317, at *1 (9th Cir.
May 19, 2020) (affirming dismissaf claim under Section 502(a)(B) where plaintiff relied on
“generalized allegations” about plan breacheddailed to identify “any plan terms that specify
benefits that the defendants were adoiggl to pay but failed to pay”).

Accordingly, plaintiffs’ claimsunder Section 502(a)(1)(B), 22S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B), are
subject to dismissal.

2. Failureto M ake Required Disclosures

Under ERISA Section 502(c)(1), a participantbeneficiary can hold plan administrator
liable for (1) failing to complywith certain disclosure and no# obligations; o(2) failing or
refusing to comply with a request for informatioy the participant or beneficiary. 29 U.S.C. §
1132(c)(1). A claim for failure tonake required disclosures da@ brought only against a “plan
administrator.” Cline v. Indus. MaintEng'g & Contracting Cq.200 F.3d 1223, 1234 (9th Cir.
2000) (holding that “only the plaadministrator can be held lialfier failing to canply with the
reporting and disclosure requments”) (citation and internguotation marks omitted).

Plaintiffs assert alaim against United under 29 U.S&1132(c). Compl. 11 312-15.
This claim is premised on allegations that Unfi@ted to “disclose material information about its
out-of-network benefit reductionand illegal adverse benefit dategnations,” made “material
changes to the Plaintiffs andaSk’ benefit policy without discémire,” and failed to provide
accurate EOBs and Summary Plan Documents (SRDsY. 314.

United moves to dismiss this claim on the grautidat it is not the ph administrator and
therefore cannot be sued under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)idl)that, and eveniifcould be sued under
that statute, plaintiffs’ claim would nevertheléas because they have nalleged any violations
of ERISA’s discloste requirements.

ERISA defines a plan administrator as thg person specificallyo designated by the
terms of the instrument under igh the plan is operated; (ifjan administrator is not so

designated, the plan sponsor{ia) in the case of a plan farhich an administrator is not




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

designated and a plan sponsarmroat be identified, sth other person as the Secretary may by
regulation prescribe.” 29 U.S.C. § 1002(16)(A).

Here, plaintiffs have alleged no factualtteato raise the inference that United was
designated under any plan documents as thegolannistrator, or that United can otherwise be
deemed as the plan administrator under 29Q).$1002(16)(A). In thir oppositionplaintiffs
state, without authority, that United is thedper defendant” for this claim because “United
agreed to provide administratienctions for the plan, includg provision of appropriate plan
documents to plan participants and benefiesaupon request.” Opp’n at 22, Docket No. 46.
Nothing in Section 1002(16)(A) sugsts that an entity can becomelan administrator for the
purposes of a claim under 29 U.S.C. § 1132jd){1“agreeing” to provide administrative
functions for the plan. To the contrary, coudstinely dismiss with prejudice claims under 29
U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1) asserted against entitiesalegedly served as “de facto” administrators by
virtue of having assumed adnstrative responsibilitiesSee, e.gln re WellPoint, Inc. Out-of-
Network UCR Rates Litig865 F. Supp. 2d 1002, 1045 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (“[CJourts in this circu
have consistently concluded thiatility cannot attach to a itld party insurer that assumes
administrative responsihiies under the de facto administratioeory.”) (collecting cases).
Accordingly, this claim is subjetd dismissal on the basthat plaintiffs haveot alleged facts to
show that United can be suedder 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1).

Even if United were the plan administrafor the purposes of 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1),
however, the claim would still b®ubject to dismissal because ptéfs’ allegations do not give
rise to the reasonable inference that Unitgléd to comply with ERISA’s disclosure
requirements. In the complaipiaintiffs cite to 29 U.S.Csections 1024(4) and 1022 as the
disclosure provisions that Unitellegedly violated. Suchvisions provide that a plan
administrator is required tostilose, upon request, the summagnpliescription and other plan
documents.See29 U.S.C. § 1024(4) (providing that administrator shalljpon written request
of any participant or beneficiary, furnish a cagythe latest updated sumary, plan description,
and the latest annual report, any terminal reploe bargaining agreement, trust agreement,

contract, or other instruments wrdvhich the plan is establisher operated”); 29 U.S.C. § 1022
7

—



United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

(“A summary plan description @ny employee benefit plaghall be furnished to participants and
beneficiaries as provided in sexti1024(b) of this titl&). The complaint is devoid of allegations
that plaintiffs made a request to United &ory plan documents coverey these provisions.
Accordingly, plaintiffs do not rige the reasonable inference tbiaited violated tlese provisions.
See Sgro v. Danone Waters of N. Am.,, Bi82 F.3d 940, 945 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding that “a
defendant can’t be liable [und2® U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1)]” for faihig to disclose information upon
request of the participant or benefigidunless it receivea request”).

To the extent that plaintiffs’ 29 U.S.C. § 113219)claim is predicatedn the theory that
United’s plan documents and other communicatisnsh as EOBs, were not accurate, that clain
fails because plaintiffs have not shown that axtldisputing the accuracy of such materials can
brought under 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(c)(1).

Finally, to the extent that gintiffs seek to assert a 20S.C. § 1132(c)(1) claim based on
the theory that United was requdrebut failed, to disclose the thedology it used to calculate
UCR in the context of the reimbursements it predito Summit Estate, the claim is subject to
dismissal because plaintiffs hawet identified any progion of ERISA that requires disclosure of]
such information.

Accordingly, plaintiffs’ cim under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(%)subject to dismissal.

3. Breach of Fiduciary Duties

A fiduciary can be held liablor breaches any of the “rgsnsibilities, obligations, or
duties imposed upon fiduciariey [ERISA].” 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a). Under 29 U.S.C.

8 1104(a)(1)(D), a fiduciarys required to discharges duties with respect @ plan solely in the
interest of the participants and benefigarand in accordance with the documents and
instruments governing the plan. phaintiff suing for violationf 29 U.S.C. § 1109(a) can seek
relief as to an individual pacipant (as opposed to plan-wide edliif it bringsthe claim under 29
U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3)Varity Corp. v. Howe516 U.S. 489, 509-12 (1996).

Plaintiffs seek individualelief under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(8ased on allegations that
United violated 29 U.S.C. 88 1109 and 1104(a) nfato reimburse SummEstate for 100% of

its billed charges for each plaii, which plaintiffs allege amunts to out-of-network benefit
8
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reductions and adverse benefit detmations that were not authoed by the plan documents.
Compl. T 322. Plaintiffs alsappear to allege that the EOB®Yy received regarding the
reimbursements at issue were ina@te on the basis that the reimbursements were not authori
by the plan documentdd.

Defendants move to dismiss tlaigim on the ground thalaintiffs have failed to allege
that United’s actions were contrary to the plan documents.

Plaintiffs’ claim for breach ofiduciary duties is predicatezh alleged actions by United
“that were not authorized by the plan documé&n@ompl. 1 322. For the reasons discussed
above, plaintiffs have failed to allege any bresschf the plan terms or the “plan documents” in
connection with United’s reimbursemefs the IOP services at issue.

Accordingly, this claim is subject to dismissal.

4. Full and Fair Review

Under 29 U.S.C. § 1133, a benefit plan nprstvide notice and an opportunity to appeal
when a participant’s “claim fdsenefits under the plan has been denied.” 29 U.S.C. § 1133.
Under 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(h)plan is required to estalitisa procedure for providing a
reasonable opportunity to appeal adverse benefit determiioe to an appropriate named
fiduciary of the plan. An advezsgdetermination includes, in reletgart, a “denial, reduction, or
termination of, or a failure to pvide or make payment (in whole iorpart) for, a benefit[.]” 29
C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(m)(4)(i). Under 29 C.F8R560.503-1(g), the plan administrator is
required to provide a claimawith written or electronic noti€ation of any adverse benefit
determination.

Plaintiffs assert a cia against United for violations @ U.S.C. § 1133. It is predicated
on allegations that United denied them the oppdstuo appeal the “underid claims” at issue,
which plaintiffs allege are adige benefit determations. Compl. 1 332-35. Plaintiffs further
aver that the EOBs they received from Unitedi bt state that the “uledpaid claims” were “an
adverse benefit determination that gatient has the right to appeald. { 53.

United moves to dismiss this claim on tireund that it fails beause the EOBs in

guestion, which United attachedits request for judicial note; state the amounts that United
9
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paid to Summit Estate and any remaining balanceplaattiffs were required to pay, as well as
the process for appealing such determinati@eeReq. for Judicial Notice, Nguyen Decl., EXx. 4-
8, Docket No. 35-2.

The Court will consider the EOBs under theorporation-by-reference doctrine, which
permits courts “to consider docemts in situations where tisemplaint necessidy relies upon a
document or the contents of the document argedlén a complaint, the document’s authenticity
is not in question and there are no dispugsdes as to the document’s relevandegdto
Settlement v. Eisenber§93 F.3d 1031, 1038 (9th Cir. 2010). Hepkintiffs do not dispute the
authenticity of the EOBs that laed attached to its request fadicial notice, dispute that the
EOBs in question are the ones to which they refer in the complaint, or argue that the EOBs 3
relevant to their claimsSeeObjections to RIN at 4, Dockidb. 47. Plaintiffsonly argument
against the Court’s consideration of the EOBh&d, “[w]hile the EOB’s [sic] are an evidentiary
piece of the puzzle in this case, they are not a negessdeterminative factan this motion or at
this stage of the litigation.1d. The Court finds this arguméto be unpersuasive.

Contrary to plaintiffs’ contetion, the EOBs are a “determinge factor” to the resolution
of the present motions, because the EOBs appeieitily contradict pladtiffs’ allegations that
such documents failed to inform them of thienteursement determinatioas issue or of their
right to appeal such determinatiorfSeeNguyen Decl., Ex. 4-8, Docket No. 35-2. The EOBs
clearly state the amounts thanited would reimburse arahy remaining amounts that the
plaintiffs would owe to SummiEstate, and that plaintiffs atal appeal such reimbursement
determinationsld. The Court is not required to acceptrag allegations that are contradicted by
exhibits incorporated into the complaby reference, as the EOBs are hekgua Caliente Band
of Cahuilla Indians v. Riverside CiyL81 F. Supp. 3d 725, 732 (C.D. Cal. 2016) (“A court must
construe the factual allegations in the pleadingke light most faorable to the non-moving
party, but it need not accept as true conclustipgations that areontradicted by matters
properly subject to judicial notiaa by exhibits incorporated inthe complaint by reference.”).

Accordingly, plaintiffs’claim for violations of 29 U.S.C. 8133 is subject to dismissal to the

10

ren



United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

extent that it is predicated on allegations thatBE®Bs that plaintiffs received failed to inform
them of the reimbursements at issu®f their right to appeal.

Plaintiffs’ claim for violationsof 29 U.S.C. § 1133 is also sebj to dismissal to the extent
that it is based on the theory that the EOBs wegeired, but failed, tetate the words “adverse
benefit determination,” as plaintiffs haeged no authority towgport that proposition.

5. Catch-all Equitable Relief

Under ERISA’s catch-all provision, 29 U.S.C1832(a)(3), a participant, beneficiary, or
fiduciary may bring a civil action “(A) to enjoiany act or practice whicviolates any provision
of this subchapter or ¢hterms of the plan, or §Bo obtain other approprexequitable relief (i) to
redress such violations or (ii) to enforce any provisions ofstiichapter or the terms of the
plan[.]” 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3).

Plaintiffs assert two catchialaims for equitable reéif under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3)
against both defendants, which thegad “in the alternative” to éhlegal remedies they seek in
connection with their other ERISA claims. Cdnfff] 337-58. Specifical) plaintiffs seek an
injunction requiring defendants pay them the amounts that Unitaitegedly “should have paid
for the claims at issue in this action,” mh United allegedly “improperly retainedld. § 350.
Plaintiffs also seek disgorgemattillicit profits and the “reproessing” of the claims at issue
using “an appropriate methodologyld. at page 54. Plaiifits allege that tby seek relief under
29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) “only to tlextent that the Court finds théte injunctive relief sought to
remedy Counts Il through VI are unavailalgursuant to 29 U.S. § 1132(a)(1)(B).”Id. 11 338,
345. “Counts Il through VI” refeto plaintiffs’ claims under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B) for
breach of the plan terms; under 29 U.S.C. § 18P for failure to make required disclosures;
and under 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1109 and 29 U.S.C.314)(3) for breach of fiduciary duties.

Defendants move to dismiss these claims ergtiound that they are subject to dismissal
for the same reasons that theestERISA claims should be disseed, as they are based on the
same allegations and theories arék the same relief. Defendafuither argue that the nature of

the relief that plaintiffs seethrough these claims is legalther than equitable.

11




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

The Court agrees with Defendants. Swttl132(a)(3) can be invoked to enjoin ERISA
violations or to redress such vaibns, or to enforce an ERISA preian or the terms of the plan.
29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3). Here, as discussed alppamtiffs have nostated a claim for any
ERISA violation, nor have theyised the reasonablef@rence that defendants’ conduct requires
enforcement of an ERISA provsi or the terms of any plafRlaintiffs’ claims under Section
1132(a)(3), therefore, are subjéztdismissal on this basis.

To the extent that plaintiffs seek to re-asstaims under 29 U.8. § 1132(a)(3) in the
alternative in an amended complaany such claims must Isepported by allegations that raise
the reasonable inference (1) thafendants have violated ERASr that defendants’ conduct
requires the enforcement of an ISR provision or the terms of agl, and (2) that the remedies
sought are equitable, not legdllo qualify as equitable relief, biot(1) the basis fothe plaintiff's
claim and (2) the nature of thiederlying remedies sought mustdzpiitable rathethan legal.”
Depot, Inc. v. Caring for Montanans, 1n@15 F.3d 643, 660 (9th Cirgert. denied140 S. Ct.

223 (2019) (citation and internal gation marks omitted). Her#éhe complaint is devoid of
allegations that raise the inference that the basihé&remedies that plaintiffs seek under Sectio
1132(a)(3) is equitable; plaintiffSection 1132(a)(3) claims areealicated on the same theories
as their other ERISA claims, which are leg&urther, the complainatks allegations showing
that the nature of themeedies sought is equitable, as opposed to legal.

In their opposition, plaintiffs argue thaeghseek disgorgement amounts by which
defendants were unjustly enriched, a surchageé,an order requiring defendants to “reprocess”
the claims for IOP services at issue, whiokytihkontend are equitable remedies. Opp’n at 15,
Docket No. 46. Regardless of how plaintiffegatheir requested remedies, the Court cannot
reasonably infer that such remedies are peaiblessunder Section 1132(a)(® the absence of
allegations raising the inference that the basis and nature of such remedies is ecetblepot
915 F.3d at 661-65 (holding that a court must “lomkhe substance of the remedy sought rather
than the label placed on thahredy” when determining whethdre plaintiff seeks “appropriate

equitable relief” under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(30 affirming dismissal ahe pleading stage of
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claims for “disgorgement” and “restitution” because such claims were legal, not equitable,
“notwithstanding the[ir] labels”).

Accordingly, plaintiffs’claims under 1132(a)(3) asebject to dismissal.

B. RICO

Section 1962(c) of RICO provides, “It $hilae unlawful for anyperson employed by or
associated with any enterprise to conduct or participate, directty indirectly, in the conduct of
such enterprise’s affairs througipattern of racketeeringctivity or collection of unlawful debt.”
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

Here, plaintiffs allege that defendants wii@ld RICO Section 1962(c). This claim is
premised on the following allegations: United and Viant are engaged in an illegal “kick-back”
scheme through which United and Viant conspirethke and retain faheir own benefit funds
given to them by plan member€ompl. 11 243-91. United sent plaintiffs EOBs that falsely
represented that “benefits were avialidaand paid based on the UCR ratd,y] 256, “did not state
that they were adverse benefiteleninations” as a result of Vitia repricing, and did not provide
“any process by which the adverse berddtierminations could be appealed,’] 252. Viant
falsely represented in its patient advocacy (“PARHers to plaintiffs and providers that it had
authority to negotiaten patients’ behalfld. 11 253, 259. Consequentlyapitiffs were injured
by this alleged scheme because of “their payrokakcessive balance bills” for IOP serviced.
11 265, 288. Moreover, the predicaftenses for their RICO clairare wire fraud and mail fraud
in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343, as wellFesieral Health offenses” in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 24 and ERISA, 18 U.S.C. § 102d. | 247.

Defendants move to dismiss this claim oa ¢iiounds that plaintiffs’ allegations are
insufficient to state claim under Section 1962(c) and tpktintiffs lackRICO standing.

1 Elements of RICO Section 1962(c) Claim

To state a claim under Sectit@62(c), a plaintifinust allege: “(1) conduct (2) of an
enterprise (3) through pattern (4) of raekeering activity.”Odom v. Microsoft Corp486 F.3d
541, 547 (9th Cir. 2007) (en banc). “Rule 9(b)'gueement that ‘[ijn & averments of fraud or

mistake, the circumstances congtrtg fraud or mistake shall be sdtwith particularity’ applies
13
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to civil RICO fraud claims.”Edwards v. Marin Park, In¢356 F.3d 1058, 1065-66 (9th Cir.
2004) (internal citation omitted).

Here, plaintiffs’ RICO claim under Section 196R(& subject to disimsal for failure to

allege facts to satisfy the following elements.
a. Enterprise

“An enterprise that is not a legal entisycommonly known as an ‘association-in-fact’
enterprise.”ld. at 940 (citation omitted). To plead assaciation-in-fact entprise, a plaintiff
must allege: (1) a common pase of engaging in a caar of conduct; (2) an ongoing
organization, either formal orfiormal; and (3) facts that thesociates function as a continuing
unit. Odom 486 F.3d at 553 (citation omitted).

Here, plaintiffs have not averred factualtteasuggesting that tendants acted with a
common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct. The allegations in the complaint desci
contractual relationship between defendantsré@tired Viant to ned@te reimbursements on
behalf of United. Plaintiffs allege no factsrase the inference that defendants’ activities
pursuant to this contractual relationship wesatrary to United’s oliyations under the ERISA
plans it administered or to the terms of sptdms. Courts routely hold that the “common
purpose” requirement is notet where, as here, the allegatiamghe complaint are consistent
only with the execution of a routire®ntract or comnreial dealing. See, e.gGardner v. Starkist
Co, 418 F. Supp. 3d 443, 461 (N.D. Cal. 2019) (“Syrgharacterizing routine commercial
dealing as a RICO emfaise is not enough.”fcomez v. Guthy—Renker, LLo. 14-cv-01425-
JGB, 2015 WL 4270042, at *11 (C.D. Cal. Jul. 13, 2Q1B)CO liability must be predicated on a
relationship more substantial than a routine @mttbetween a service prder and its client.”).

b. Conduct

To satisfy the “conduct” element a Section 1962(c) claim,@aintiff mustallege facts
that the defendant had “some part iredting [the enterprise’s] affairs Walter v. Drayson538
F.3d 1244, 1249 (9th Cir. 2008) (citation and intequadtation marks omitted). Simply being “a
part” of the enterprise or “performing servicdst the enterprise does niage to the level of

direction required.ld.
14
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Here, plaintiffs have not alleddacts to raise the inferentteat either United or Viant
directed the affairs of the alleged schemeRUECO purposes. Alleg@ns showing that a
defendant conducted its own affairs is insufintieo raise the inference that the defendant
conducted the affairs of an enterpri€eeBias v. Wells Fargo & Cp942 F. Supp. 2d 915, 939
(N.D. Cal. 2013) (Gonzalez Roger3.,) (holding that RICO liabilitydepends on showing that the
defendants conducted or particain the conduct of thenhterprise’saffairs,” not just theiown
affairs”) (emphasis in the origat). As discussed above, théeghtions in te complaint are
consistent only with defendants conducting thein@i#fairs pursuant to the contract that requireq
Viant to negotiate reimbursements on behalf oit&th which plaintiffs do noallege was contrary
to the ERISA plans that United administered. mabsence of allegations that raise the inferen
that either defendant performedians to further a scheme rathiban their own individual affairs
pursuant to the contract just describibe, conduct elemeis not satisfied.

C. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

A “pattern of racketeering activity requiresl@ast two acts of racketeering activity, one of

which occurred after [1970] and the last ofiethoccurred within ten years after the commission
of a prior act of rackektring activity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).aBketeering activitys also referred
to as the “predicate actsl’iving Designs, Inc. v. E.l. Dupont de Nemours and €81 F.3d 353,
361 (9th Cir. 2005). Offenses that can constituégligate acts for a RICO violation are listed in
18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).

As noted, plaintiffs allege #t their RICO claims are prieéited on wire fraud and mail
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343, ab a“Federal Healtloffenses” in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 24 and ERISA, 18S.C. § 1027. Compl. 1 354-59.

The alleged “Federal Healtffenses” cannot serve asicates for a RICO claim
because they are not listed in 18 U.S.C. § 196 Rjintiffs argue that these offenses can give
rise to a RICO claim to the extent that thelate to the laundering of monetary instruments in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956. Opp’n at 8-9, Dockiet. 46. While money laundering is listed in
Section 1961(1) and can, therefaerve as a RICO predicate afée, the complaint is devoid of

allegations that defendants engaged in monayearing activities. Acadingly, in the absence
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of allegations in the complaint that tie the “Fedétahlth offenses” in quéen to an offense that
can serve as a predicate for a RICO claim, pf&8hRICO claim is subgct to dismissal to the
extent that it is based on “Fex@dl Health offenses.”

Wire fraud and mail fraud imiolation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343, respectively, can
serve as predicate offenses. Plaintiffs, howeves feailed to allege facts to raise the reasonablg
inference that defendants committed attléas instances ofither offense.

Wire fraud and mail fraud share the same eldmé€hh) that the defendant formed a schen
to defraud; (2) used the UnitedaBts wires [for wirdraud] or United Stateshail [for mail fraud]
in furtherance of the scheme; and (3) did &b & specific intent taleceive or defraudSchreiber
Distrib. Co. v. Serv-Well Furniture Ca806 F.2d 1393, 1400 (9th Cir. 1986) (citations omitted).
Alleged violations of RICO predicated ondidulent communicationgs the ones here, are
subject to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b)ickirequires that the plaintiff “state the time,
place, and specific content of the false representasismgell as the identiteof the parties to the
misrepresentation.d. at 1401.

Plaintiffs have not averred the specific fagquired to raise the reasonable inference thg
defendants committed at least twstances of mail fraud or wire fraud. The allegations in the
complaint do not identify the timglace, and specific contenttbie fraudulent communications at
issue, or identify the person persons involved in such commurtioas. Plaintiffs also do not
aver factual matter to raiseetinference that such commurioas were sent over the United
States wires or United Statemil across state lines.

Plaintiffs’ allegations with respect to tlEOBs, which do not satigthe requirements of
Rule 9(b), are insufficient to raise the infecerthat the statements therein were fraudulent.
Plaintiffs allege that United “made represemtasi to the Plaintiffs and the Class in the EOB
letters that benefits were alable and paid based on the UCR rate.” Compl. I 256. However,
plaintiffs do not identify wikn United allegedly sent them these letters or what the letters state
Further, the EOB letters filed by United, which the Court has decided to consider for the purg
of resolving the present motiord not state that any amounts p&idIOP services were “based

on the UCR rate.”"SeeNguyen Decl., Ex. 4-8, Docket No. 35-Rlaintiffs also allege that the
16
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EOBs did not provide “any process by whick #dverse benefit deteinations could be
appealed.” Compl. 1 252. As discussed abtheeEOBs that United filed do describe a process
for appealing United’s reimbursemedgterminations. Finally, platffs allege that the EOBs did
not state that they were “adverse benefit aeiteaitions” as a result of Viant’s repricingd.

252. Plaintiffs, however, have cited no authositpwing that United waquired to include in
the EOBs the words “adverse benegtermination” or to othense mention Viant’s involvement
in the reimbursement negotiations.

Plaintiffs’ allegations with respect to therifeeation calls that Summit Estate made to
United also do not satisfy Rulel®( Plaintiffs allege that Somit Estate contacted United to
verify out-of-network benefitsral that United represented thag lOP benefits in question would
be paid “at UCR rates” and that the claimssatie “were not subject third-party repricing by
Viant.” Id. { 26. Plaintiffs, however, do nmtentify any specifics. Adiscussed above, plaintiffs
have not identified any plangrisions showing that United waequired to reimburse for IOP
services at the UCR, or that it was prohibited from contractingWéht to negotiate
reimbursements. Thus, these allegations are insufficient to raise the inference that United’s
statements during thesalls were fraudulent.

Plaintiffs’ allegations with repect to Viant's correspondence@bdo not satisfy Rule 9(b).
Plaintiffs allege that Viant represented “ia dorrespondence” that its reimbursement amounts &
“based on UCR rates, plan termos,other independent basedd. § 120. Again, plaintiffs do not
identify specifics. Plaintiffs aver that Viant falsely represented in its PAD letters to plaintiffs g
providers that it had authority teegotiate on patients’ behalid. 1 253, 259. Without more
detail, these allegations are insufficient toedlse inference that Viant's PAD letters were
fraudulent.

Accordingly, plaintiffs have ngplausibly alleged that defeadts engaged in acts of mail
fraud or wire fraud that constitutgpattern of racketering activity.

In light of the foregoing, @lintiffs’ RICO claim under Setion 1962(c) is subject to
dismissal.

1
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2. Conspiracy under Section 1962(d)

Section 1962(d) provides, “It shéle unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any g
the provisions of subsection (&), or (c) of thissection.” A defendant cannot be liable for a
RICO conspiracy under Section 244) if the defendant is not liable under the substantive RIC{
provisions, namely Sectiori®62(a), (b), or (c)See Howard v. Am. Online In@08 F.3d 741,

751 (9th Cir. 2000) (“Plaintiffs cannot claim that@nspiracy to violate RICO existed if they do
not adequately plead a substeatviolation of RICO.").

In the complaint, plaintiffs allege that datéants’ purported schenreviolation of RICO
was a “conspiracy.’See, e.g.Compl.  270. To the extent th@aintiffs sought to assert a claim
against defendants under SectioB2(@) based on these allegatiosigch a claim is subject to
dismissal because plaintiffs\yeafailed to plead a substarg RICO violation under Section
1962(c), as discussed abovgee Howard208 F.3d at 751.

3. Standing

To establish RICO standing, aapitiff must plead an injurjo business or property that
was proximately caused by the giiel RICO predicate offensélemi Grp., LLC v. City of New
York 559 U.S. 1, 2 (2010) (“To establish that gy came about by reason of a RICO violation
a plaintiff must show that a predicate offenseardy was a but for caus# his injury, but was
the proximate cause as well(Qitation and interal quotation marks oitted). Where the
predicate offense is mail or wifeaud, the plaintiff must allege facts to show that “someone reli
on the defendant’s misrepresentationsdider to establish proximate causeeBridge v.

Phoenix Bond & Indem. Cab53 U.S. 639, 658 (2008). Thishscause, “logically, a plaintiff
cannot even establish butrfeausation if no one reliezh the defendant’s alleged
misrepresentation.Painters & Allied Trades Dist. Council 82 Health Care Fund v. Takeda
Pharm. Co. Ltd.943 F.3d 1243, 1259 (9th Cir. 2019) (citiBgdge 553 U.S. at 658-59).

Here, plaintiffs allege thdahey “relied upon United’s assesti in the plan documents . . .
that out-of-network claims, whezovered, would be paid at thiCR rate.” Compl.  352. As
discussed above, plaintiffs hanet identified the provisions ithe “plan documents” that state

that the IOP services at issuewid be paid “at the UCR rate.” Without such identification or
18
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explicit allegations of reliance, fierence of the same is not pddei Accordingly, the complaint
does not raise the reasonable inference thatlémeent of reliance is met so as to find that
plaintiffs’ injurieswere proximately caused by the gksl mail fraud and wire fraudCf. Painters
943 F.3d at 1260 (holding that “it ssifficient to satishRICO’s proximate cause requirement that
[the plaintiff] alleged that presibing physicians (also third p&s$, but not intervening causes)
relied on Defendants’ misrepresations and omissions.”).

C. L eave to Amend

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2) prowdeat courts “should éely give leave [to
amend] when justice so requiredii re Korean Air Lines Co., Ltd642 F.3d 685, 701 (9th Cir.
2011). The Court, however, needt grant leave to amend whenmendment would be futile.
Smith v. Pac. Props. & Dev. Cor@58 F.3d 1097, 1101 (9th Cir. 2004).

Because it is not clear that amendment efabmplaint would be futile, the Court will
grant plaintiffs leave to amendaltomplaint to attempt to allegecognizable theory for each of
the claims discussed herein.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CABRANTS defendants’ motions to dismigsTH LEAVE
TO AMEND. Plaintiffs may file an ammeled complaint within thirty (30) days of the date this ord
is filed. Defendants may file a response to therahed complaint within thirty (30) days of the
date it is filed.

This order terminates @&et Numbers 33 and 34.

| T 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: August 26, 2020 M

1%

Q/ YVONNE G&RzALEZ RoGERS
N

ITED STATESDISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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